IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS OF THE CASE.

On February 12, 1972, Sherman and Helene Bennett acquired Lot 17, Section 1, in Maplewood Estates, a single-family residential subdivision developed in 1951.

When Maplewood Estates was developed, and when the Bennetts acquired their lot, Putnam County did not have any form of land use or subdivision regulation. There were no regulated limitations on lot size or street and right-of-way widths. The street rights of way in the original Maplewood Estates were fixed at thirty feet in width. The Bennett parcel—a large lot more than an acre in size—fronts on the main street in Maplewood Estates—a thirty foot street that forms the western boundary of the property.

After the development of Maplewood Estates, a parcel of land to the east was developed by one Rosemarie Cox. The Cox development, now known as East Maplewood Estates, was on land that abutted the Maplewood tract but shared no common predecessor in title. As part of the plan for East Maplewood Estates, a thirty foot right-of-way for a roadway was laid out that bordered the Bennett lot on both the north and east sides. Because this thirty foot right-of-way, known as Linden Road, was established for the benefit of East Maplewood property owners, neither the Bennetts' property nor any other part of Maplewood Estates had any legal right to use this roadway. East Maplewood Estates was also laid out before Putnam County adopted any subdivision regulations.

When the development of both Maplewood and East Maplewood was complete, the Bennett lot fronted on Maplewood Drive and had a clear legal right to use that thirty

foot right-of-way. The Bennett lot abutted the thirty-foot right-of-way called Linden Road on both the north and east boundaries but had no clear legal right to use that roadway for ingress and egress.

To the south of the Bennett lot are three other lots in the original Maplewood development that front in the west on Maplewood Drive and abut in the east on Linden Road. These three parcels have no legal right to use Linden Road for ingress and egress. Of the four lots in Maplewood that abut on Linden Road only the Bennett lot is bounded by that road on two sides. (See attached map Exhibit A.)

The Bennett lot is quite large and susceptible to division into two separate parcels, both of which would greatly exceed the minimum size for subdivided lots set by Putnam County's land use regulations. In 2002, Mr. and Mrs. Bennett hired a surveyor and had a map prepared showing a proposed division of their lot into two parcels. (See attached Exhibit B.) The Bennetts' existing home would remain on the parcel fronting on Maplewood Drive. Access to the subdivided parcel would be from Linden Road, the thirty-foot right-of-way serving East Maplewood. To make sure their subdivided parcel had a legal right to use Linden Road, the Bennetts entered into an agreement with the East Maplewood Estates Homeowners Association, Inc., giving the Bennetts the right to use that road upon certain express conditions. Importantly, the agreement expressly limited its application to the Bennett lot to the exclusion of any other parcel of land in the original Maplewood development. Because of this agreement, **the Bennett lot is the only part of the original Maplewood tract with the legal right to use both Maplewood Drive and Linden Road.**

The Bennetts filed an application for approval to subdivide their lot with the Putnam County Office of Planning and Infrastructure. Because Putnam County subdivision regulations adopted in the 1980's require any new subdivided parcel to be accessed by a forty foot right-of-way, the Bennett subdivision application was denied, with the advice that the Bennetts could seek a variance from the Putnam County Planning Commission relative to right-of-way width.

The Bennett situation is a common problem in Putnam County where rights-of-way thirty feet in width were the norm until the subdivision regulations were adopted. Since the Bennett lot met all the Putnam County requirements for subdivision *except* the width of the right-of-way for ingress and egress, the Bennetts applied for a variance. To avoid the hardships or practical difficulties of rendering otherwise valuable land unusable because of nonconformity with its regulations, the Office of Planning and Infrastructure had in place a specific, written procedure whereby an aggrieved landowner could obtain a variance from the requirement for access from a forty foot right-of-way. *Article 1400.13 of the Putnam County Subdivision Regulations* provides as follows:

Where the Planning Commission finds that extraordinary hardships or practical difficulties may result from strict compliance with these regulations and/or the purposes of these regulations may be served to a greater extent by an alternative proposal, it may approve variances to these subdivision regulations so that substantial justice may be done and the public interest secured, provided that such variance shall not have the effect of nullifying the intent and purpose of these regulations, and further provided the Planning Commission shall not approve variances unless it shall make written findings based upon the evidence presented to it that all of the following conditions are met:

- a. The granting of the variance will not be detrimental to the public safety, health, or welfare or injurious to other property.
- b. The conditions upon which the request for a variance is based are unique to the property for which the variance is sought and are not applicable generally to other property.
- c. Because of the particular physical surroundings, shape of topographical conditions or the specific property involved, a particular hardship to the owner would result, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of these regulations are carried out.
- d. The variances will not in any manner vary the provisions of any other regulations, ordinances or plans adopted by the County.
- e. In approving variances, the Planning Commission may require such conditions as will, in its judgement, secure substantially the objections of the standards or requirements of these regulations.

- f. A petition for any such variance shall be submitted in writing by the subdivider. The petition shall state fully the grounds for the application and all of the facts relied upon by the petitioner.

A variance request must be submitted in writing a minimum of twenty-one days prior to the regularly scheduled Planning Commission. . . .

On January 30, 2004, the Bennetts submitted a planning commission appeal application to the Office of Planning and Infrastructure requesting a variance from the forty-foot right-of-way rule. The Bennetts want to subdivide part of their land and give a lot to their granddaughter so she can build a house next to them. Access to this lot will be provided by the thirty-foot right-of-way of Linden Road. Past practice by the Putnam County Planning Commission was to grant such variances where subdivision lots laid out before adoption of the regulations met all of the requirements of the regulations except for right-of-way width. This was particularly true with exempt subdivisions such as dividing property for purposes of gifts to children or grandchildren.

After due notice to nearby property owners, the Putnam County Planning Commission conducted a full hearing on the Bennett variance application. This hearing was done in two parts, one on February 24, 2004, and the last on the 23rd day of March, 2004. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Putnam County Planning Commission approved the Bennett variance request and made specific and extensive findings of fact.

Among other things, the Planning Commission specifically found that division of the Bennett lot would not be detrimental to public safety, health or welfare or injurious to other property. (See Final Findings of Fact, p. 16, attached as Exhibit C.)

The Planning Commission also found that the conditions upon which the variance was based were unique to the Bennett property because the Bennett lot was created prior to the adoption of the Putnam County Subdivision regulations when no minimum right-of-way widths were required. The Planning Commission found that the proposed lot met all other requirements of the subdivision regulations. The Planning Commission

specifically found that only the Bennett lot had the legal right to use both Maplewood Drive and East Maplewood Drive or Linden Road. In making this finding, the Planning Commission noted that while other lots in Maplewood Estates also abutted Linden Road, none of those lots had a legal right to use Linden Road unless they somehow obtained permission from the East Maplewood Homeowners Association in the future. (See Final Findings of Fact, p. 17.)

The Planning Commission found that both the proposed subdivided lot and the residue of the Bennett tract would greatly exceed the minimum lot size required by Putnam County Subdivision regulations. The Commission found that all existing improvements were in place so that an additional right-of-way was not needed for improvements to the proposed lot. Importantly, the Commission found that since the proposed lot met all subdivision regulations except the width of right-of-way, the Bennetts, as owners of the lot, would “experience a hardship if not allowed to divide their property.” (See Final Findings of Fact, p. 17.)

The hardship to the Bennetts is obvious; without the variance that the Planning Commission granted, they own a valuable lot that meets all existing subdivision regulations, that is served by a road and right-of-way sufficient for any future development, and that they would be completely unable to use as a residential lot.

Of course, implicit in the Planning Commission’s decision to grant a variance is a finding by the Commission that the threshold elements of extraordinary hardship or practical difficulty resulting from strict compliance with subdivision regulations existed relative to the Bennett lot. Both extraordinary hardship and practical difficulty are obvious when the result of the denial of the variance would have been to render the Bennett property valueless as a residential lot. Indeed, the Putnam County Planning Commission has previously adopted the defined concept of “uniqueness” and “hardship” as applying to the subdivision of a lot that otherwise meets all the requirements of the regulations but fronts on a street that was established before the regulations were adopted. (See Final Findings of Fact, p. 11, 17.)

Within thirty days of the Planning Commission's order granting the Bennett variance, the Maplewood Estates Homeowners Association filed a petition for appeal from that order with the Circuit Court of Putnam County. By order entered November 19, 2004, the Circuit Court of Putnam County ruled that the Putnam County Commission's finding that denial of a variance would result in hardship to the Bennetts was "plainly wrong." It was the final order of the court that the order of the Planning Commission granting the variance be reversed and vacated. It is from this order that the Bennetts seek an appeal.

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR RELIED UPON ON APPEAL AND THE MANNER IN WHICH THEY WERE DECIDED IN THE LOWER TRIBUNAL.

The Circuit Court of Putnam County, the Honorable N. Edward Eagloski presiding, abused its discretion in reversing an order of the Putnam County Planning Commission and ruling that the Commission's findings of fact were "plainly wrong."

IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES RELIED UPON

W. Va. Code §8-24-1.

W. Va. Code §8-24-28.

W. Va. Code §8-24-29.

W. Va. Code §8A-9-6(c).

Putnam County Subdivision Regulations, Article 1400.13.

Burley v. Board of Zoning Appeals, 213 W.Va. 581, 584 S.E.2d 215 (2003).

Corliss v. Jefferson Cty. B.Z.A., 214 W.Va. 535, 591 S.E.2d 93 (2003).

Lambert v. Workers Compensation Division, 211 W.Va. 436, 566 S.E.2d 573 (2002).

Webb v. West Virginia Board of Medicine, 212 W.Va. 149, 569 S.E.2d 225 (2002).

In Re Queen, 196 W.Va. 442, 473 S.E.2d 483 (1996).

Muscatell v. Cline, 196 W.Va. 588, 474 S.E.2d 518 (1996).

Frymier-Halloran v. Paige, 193 W.Va. 687, 458 S.E.2d 780 (1995).

Wolfe v. Forbes, 159 W.Va. 34, 217 S.E.2d 899 (1975).

Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 488 (1951).

V. DISCUSSION OF LAW

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

When this case was appealed to the circuit court, the procedure for that appeal was governed by the provisions of *W. Va. Code §8-24-1*, et seq. While this appeal was pending, Chapter 8, Article 24 was repealed in its entirety. Newly enacted Chapter 8A, Article 9 governing the appeal process in land use planning issues was in effect when the circuit court decided this case. While §8A-9-6(c) empowers the circuit court or judge to “reverse, affirm or modify, in whole or in part, the decision or order” of the planning commission, the statute sets no specific standard of review. The standard of review remains that set forth in *Wolfe v. Forbes*, 159 W.Va. 34, 217 S.E.2d 899 (1975): “While on appeal there is a presumption that a [planning commission] acted correctly, a reviewing court should reverse the administrative decision where the [commission] has applied an erroneous principle of law, was plainly wrong in its factual findings, or has acted beyond its jurisdiction.” *See also, Corliss v. Jefferson Cty. B.Z.A.*, 214 W.Va. 535, 591 S.E.2d 93 (2003).

On appeal this Court reviews the decisions of the circuit court under the same standard of judicial review that the lower court was required to apply to the decision of the planning commission. *Webb v. West Virginia Board of Medicine*, 212 W.Va. 149, 569 S.E.2d 225 (2002). After applying the appropriate standard of judicial review to the decision of the planning commission, this Court must review the final order of the circuit

court and its disposition of the case under an abuse of discretion standard. *Muscatell v. Cline*, 196 W.Va. 588, 474 S.E.2d 518 (1996).

B. THE COURT'S FINDINGS

In this case, there was no allegation by the Appellee nor any finding by the circuit court that the planning commission applied an erroneous principle of law in deciding this case. Likewise, there was no allegation that the planning commission had acted beyond its jurisdiction. Since §8-24-1 and §8-24-28, 29 specifically granted to county planning commissions jurisdiction to approve the subdivision of property and maps of subdivisions, it is plain that the planning commission here was acting within its jurisdiction in granting the variance applied for by the Bennetts.

The circuit court reversed the planning commission because the circuit court found that the planning commission was "plainly wrong" in some of the factual findings it made in support of granting the variance.

The plainly wrong standard of review applied by the circuit court is a deferential one. The reviewing court must presume that an administrative tribunal's actions are valid as long as the decision is supported by substantial evidence. *Lambert v. Workers Compensation Division*, 211 W.Va. 436, 566 S.E.2d 573 (2002); *In Re Queen*, 196 W.Va. 442, 473 S.E.2d 483 (1996); and *Frymier-Halloran v. Paige*, 193 W.Va. 687, 458 S.E.2d 780 (1995). An agency action that is supported by substantial evidence or a rational basis is reviewed in a deferential manner and presumed valid. *Frymier, supra*, at 695, at 788.

"Substantial evidence" requires more than a mere scintilla of proof. Substantial evidence is such relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept it as adequate to support a conclusion. If such evidence exists to support the administrative agency's finding, that finding is conclusive. The circuit court may not supplant a factual finding of a county planning commission merely by identifying an alternative conclusion that could be supported by substantial evidence. The reviewing court may not displace the planning commission's choice between two fairly conflicting views even though the court would

justifiably have made a different choice had the matter been before it *de novo*. *Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB*, 340.S. 474, 488 (1951); *In Re Queen, supra*.

Since the circuit court reversed the Putnam County Planning Commission in this case by ruling that certain of the Planning Commission's findings were plainly wrong, it is incumbent upon this Court to review the proceedings of the Planning Commission to determine whether substantial evidence supported its findings. If such evidence exists to support the Commission's findings, then they are conclusive and the circuit court's reversal of those findings is an abuse of its discretion.

Fortunately, the Putnam County Planning Commission has long adopted a procedure that produces extensive written findings of fact and explanations of its actions when ruling on land use issues. Unlike *Burley v. Board of Zoning Appeals*, 213 W.Va. 581, 584 S.E.2d 215 (2003) and other earlier cases involving insufficient findings by administrative parties, the Putnam County Planning Commission produced extensive and specific findings and reasoning in support thereof.

Attached to this brief as Exhibit C is an 18-page document prepared by the Putnam County Planning Commission in the matter of Sherman C. and Helene F. Bennett, Jr., Variance 04-4 captioned "Final Findings of Fact." This document was prepared by the Planning Commission after extensive proceedings relative to the Bennetts' application for a variance.

Article 1400.13 of the Putnam County Subdivision Regulations permits the Planning Commission to grant variances from these regulations where "extraordinary hardships or practical difficulties may result from strict compliance." The circuit court opined that there was a lack of evidence to show that this prerequisite for the consideration of a variance existed. Indeed, the Planning Commission heard evidence and found that denial of a variance would deprive the Bennetts of the use of a significant part of their property since they would not be permitted to divide their property in a manner that would otherwise be perfectly legal. The Planning Commission also found

that the Bennetts are elderly and in poor health and wished for their granddaughter to obtain a portion of their property so that she could build a house thereon and help care for them. This evidence, all of which was uncontested by the Appellee, is more than adequate to support a finding by the Commission of either "extraordinary hardships" or, more importantly and perhaps more applicably, "practical difficulties" should a variance not be granted. The fact that the circuit judge may disagree with the severity of a hardship or the practicality of difficulty to the Bennetts is not a legitimate basis for the court's reversal of the Planning Commission's order.

The circuit court made a specific finding that the Planning Commission's finding that the Bennett property was unique was "not supported by the evidence and, as such, plainly wrong." The record just does not support the circuit court's conclusion.

The Planning Commission heard commentary from its senior planner regarding the six conditions set out in Article 1400.13. (See Exhibit C, pp. 8, 9 and 10.) After hearing its staff recommendations and evidence presented at a public hearing, the Planning Commission approved the variance request by the Bennetts. In doing so, the Commission made specific findings regarding the uniqueness of the Bennett property so as to satisfy subsection b of Article 1400.13 of the regulations. The Commission stated these findings:

"The conditions upon which the variance is based are unique to this property. Maplewood Estates is a subdivision that was placed on record in the County Clerk's office prior to the adoption of the *Putnam County Subdivision Regulations*. **At the time the subdivision was created, there was no minimum right-of-way width required in Putnam County.** The proposed lot meets all other requirements of the regulations.

There are only four lots in Maplewood Estates subdivision that are adjacent to two existing subdivision roads. The Bennett lot is one of those lots. These lots are unique because of the fact they have frontage on two subdivision roads. The other lots in Maplewood Estates do not have this uniqueness.

East Maplewood Homeowners Association granted the right to use their subdivision street, Linden Road, to only the Bennetts and their

granddaughter for that one lot and did not give permission for the other three lots that have frontage on Linden Road to use that road. Those property owners will be responsible for acquiring the legal use of Linden Road from East Maplewood Estates Homeowners Association prior to a proposed division of their property. They will also be required to apply to the Planning Commission for approval of a right-of-way variance.” (emphasis supplied.)

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