IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

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

#### **4. Argument**

Contrary to the representations of the Appellants, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia should not disturb the decision of Judge Eagloski in that he did not abuse his discretion. Rather, Judge Eagloski followed the clear letter of the law that is prescribed in Article 1400.13 of the Putnam County Planning Ordinances.

The Standard of review set out by this Court for review of the Planning Commission's decision by the circuit court is clear. "[A] reviewing court should reverse the administrative decision where the board has applied an erroneous principle of law, was plainly wrong in its factual findings, or has acted beyond its jurisdiction." *Wolfe v. Forbes*, 159 W.Va. 34, 217 S.E. 2d 899 (1975). In this case, Judge Eagloski reviewed the factual findings of the Planning Commission and found those to be plainly wrong. He himself noted that, applying the same standard this Court articulated again in its holding in *Henry v. Jefferson County Planning Commission*, 496 SE2d 239 (W.Va. 1997) that a "reviewing court should reverse [an] administrative decision where [a] board has applied [an] erroneous principle of law, was plainly wrong in its factual findings or has acted beyond its jurisdiction." Opinion at p.2. (emphasis added).

Once the Circuit Court has reviewed the decision, this Court has clearly set out that "in cases where the Circuit Court has amended the result before the administrative agency, this Court reviews the final Order of the Circuit Court and the ultimate disposition by it of an administrative law case under an abuse of discretion standard and reviews questions of law de novo." Syl. Pt. 2, *Muscatell v. Cline*, 196 W.Va. 588, 474 S.E. 2d 518 (1996). Therefore, since this case involves the Circuit Court reversing on the basis that the factual findings by the Commission were plainly wrong, this Court's standard of review is abuse of discretion.

It is clear that Judge Eagloski carefully reviewed the Planning Commission's decision because he referenced specific findings in his Opinion Order. He found, as detailed more fully in his Opinion, that there were not sufficient facts to support the findings made by the Planning

Commission. It is clear that he did not simply substitute his judgment for that of the Planning Commission. He merely found that the facts, as set forth by the Commission in its "Final Findings of Fact" (hereinafter referred to as "Findings") did not support the required conditions for the granting of a variance. This is in no way an abuse of discretion.

Pursuant to Putnam County Planning Ordinances, and in particular Article 1400.13 in the *Putnam County Subdivision Regulations, supra*, there are six conditions, *all* of which must be met, in order for a variance to be granted by the Planning Commission. The relevant conditions for purposes of this appeal are, once again, as follows:

The conditions upon which the request for a variance is based are unique to the property for which the variance is sought and are not applicable generally to other property.

Because of the particular physical surroundings, shape of topographical conditions or the specific property involved, a particular hardship to the owner would result, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of these regulations are carried out.

As correctly stated in the Bennetts' brief, the Office of Planning and Infrastructure put in place "a specific, written procedure" whereby a landowner could request a variance from the "required forty foot right-of-way." See page 4 of Appellant's Brief. That "written procedure" is summed up in the requirements listed immediately above. However, as the Circuit Court clearly realized, and the Bennetts acknowledge, the Planning Commission did not follow these specific, written procedures. Rather, they followed their "past practice."

As Appellants explain on page 5 of their Brief, the past practice of the Planning Commission was to grant variances in cases where a subdivision lot met all of the size requirements and other requirements for a subdivision lot except for right of way width and this “was particularly true” if the property division is for the purpose of a gift to a child or grandchild. However, the guideline of past practice no longer provides a clear and unambiguous rule to follow; that is why the *Regulations* were put in place.

The Planning Commission, presumably operating under the guidance of their past practice, apparently believed that the gift to a grandchild was sufficient reason to issue the variance. The Circuit Court corrected this mistake of the Commission in its application of the *Regulations* when it reversed the Planning Commission by not following the “past practices,” but rather following the specific language set forth in the “written procedure”; i.e., the *Regulations*. The Circuit Court understood that the language of the *Regulations* provides that all six conditions set forth therein must be met. The *Regulations* do not merely list items to address, rather they set forth clear conditions that must be met before a variance can be granted.

In examining the requirements enumerated in the *Regulations* and comparing them to the situation at bar, there are a number of facts that clearly show why the variance should not have been granted. It is our contention that the Bennetts have not found sufficient facts for the six conditions that are required by the Putnam Planning Commission before a variance can be issued.

More specifically, there were two certain findings of fact set forth in the Commission’s findings which were challenged by Appellees herein and Appellants below, when we sought an

Appeal to the Circuit Court, and it was those certain findings of the Commission which the Circuit Court found to be “clearly erroneous”. See *Henry, supra*. We note here, *inter alia*, that neither in Maplewood’s Appeal below, nor in this current proceeding do we concede that Appellants herein meet all six, or indeed any of the remaining other requirements set forth in the *Regulations*. Our position on those findings relating to any subsections of the Regulations not the subject of the Appeal below shall be discussed *infra*. The first of the findings of the Commission which the Circuit Court found to be “clearly erroneous” was an finding by Commission regarding a condition which was not satisfied, specifically that “the conditions upon which the request for a variance is based are unique to the property for which the variance is sought and are not applicable generally to other property.” *Regulations, supra*.

The definition of “unique” in Webster’s Dictionary is “being the sole one, being the only one or producing only one result.” *Webster’s New Collegiate Dictionary*, G. & C. Merriam Co. 1973. This point is reinforced by many guides to word usage and literary style, for example § 293 of *The American Heritage® Book of English usage: A practical and authoritative guide to contemporary English* notes that “unique may be the foremost example of the absolute term—a term that, in the eyes of traditional grammarians, should not allow [any] comparison or modification.” *Id.* Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company, 1996. Indeed, even a cursory search reveals that grammarians are struggling with the tendency of this word to be diluted by the use of improper modifiers from its position of standing for an absolutely unmistakably totally irreproducible thing.

If this Court were to apply the standard of uniqueness urged upon it by the Appellants, it would find rather that, in Maplewood Estates, there are four lots that are “unique” in that they have frontage on two roads—specifically it would find four lots having both frontage on Maplewood Drive and Linden Road. See highlighted Map, attached as Exhibit A. The Bennett lot is not asserted by any party to this matter to be the sole lot that fronts on those two streets in the two subdivisions. Therefore, it is impossible, according to the commonly accepted meaning of the word “unique” for this one lot at issue to be unique. It should be noted that none of the property owners of the four lots that are adjacent to the two subdivision roads have signed any new covenants prohibiting the division of lots in the subdivision. There is thus no barrier—given the size of and location of these lots—to prohibit these landowners from subdividing each of the tracts which they hold. Additionally, as has been shown in the matter of the Bennett suit against East Maplewood Estates, there is no reason to suppose that, given a determined request, East Maplewood Estates will not allow these property holders the same access to Linden Road that the Bennetts now enjoy. Therefore, the other three owners can now quite likely come in front of the Planning Commission and request the same variance that the Bennetts have received.

The Findings of Fact of the Planning Commission are also defective in stating: “There are only four lots in Maplewood Estates subdivision that are adjacent to two existing subdivision roads. The Bennett lot is one of those lots. These lots are unique because of the fact they have frontage on two subdivision roads. The other lots in Maplewood Estates do not have this uniqueness.” See page 15 of the Finding of Facts attached as Exhibit C to the Joint Petition for Appeal. The Planning Commission failed to define “unique” and, by its own statement, proved that the Bennett lot is not unique. By the definition of the word unique, the Bennett Lot cannot

be "unique" because there are three other lots that are exactly situated as the Bennett Lot. Four is not an acceptable number for uniqueness---only one of anything can, by definition, be unique. To use the phrase "[t]hese lots are unique" is a transparent logical fallacy.

A review of the additional facts provided by the Planning Commission does not support the fact that the Bennett Lot is unique. The Bennetts argue that their lot is "unique" because it is the only one that can use East Maplewood or Linden Drive. The only reason the Bennett lot is the only part of the original Starkey tract with the legal right to use Maplewood Drive and Linden Road is because it is the only lot that has pursued East Maplewood to get this permission. Clearly, if the other three lots also pursued East Maplewood to get a right of way, they would be in the same position as the Bennetts. The fact that the other neighbors with identical lots have not taken this action does not make the Bennetts' lot unique.

In addition, the Bennetts did not present any evidence at the Planning Commission hearing that supports the position taken by the Planning Commission in their Findings of Fact. The only evidence presented about "uniqueness" by the Bennetts was as follows: "The definition of 'uniqueness' that has always been adhered to by the planning commission staff and the commission is if it is a lot that otherwise meets all other requirements of the ordinance but fronts on a street established before the ordinance was adopted that is in and of itself unique and meets the requirement." See page 11 of the Findings of Fact of the Planning Commission attached as Exhibit C of the Joint Petition for Appeal. This definition is obviously not supported by any authority and does not comport with the specific literal requirements of the regulations.

The definition of uniqueness adhered to by the Commission is so at odds with the plain meaning of the term unique that it is impossible to reconcile one with the other. This Court has held that “[w]here the language of a statute is clear and without ambiguity the plain meaning is to be accepted without resorting to the rules of interpretation.” Syllabus Point 2, *State v. Elder*, 152 W.Va. 571, 165 S.E.2d 108 (1968). Unique, as it appears in the *Regulations* is a term with an accepted plain meaning, it is clear and unambiguous and, therefore, no interpretation should be attached to pervert its form that ordinary construction.

The second condition not met is the one requiring that “[b]ecause of the particular physical surroundings, shape of topographical conditions or the specific property involved, a particular hardship to the owner would result, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of these regulations are carried out.” The Findings of Fact do not support that the Bennetts have a hardship meriting a variance.

In West Virginia law, the concept of the definition of what precisely presents “a particular hardship” is presently undefined. It is only by turning to other jurisdictions’ holdings regarding this point that we can be illuminated as to the precise nature of a hardship and just how far short the Bennett’s situation falls of presenting one.

The Missouri Supreme Court in *Matthew v. Smith*, 707 S.W.2d 411 (Mo. 1986) stated that “[i]t is generally said that *Otto v. Steinhilber* contains the classic definition of hardship.” *Matthew* at 416. *Otto* is, of course, also a zoning variance case and in it, the Court of Appeals of New York held that before a zoning board may grant a variance for hardship that the

record must display “ that 1) the land in question cannot yield a reasonable return if used only for a purpose allowed in that zone; 2) that the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances and not to the general conditions in the neighborhood which may reflect the unreasonableness of the zoning ordinance itself; and 3) that the use to be authorized by the variance will not alter the essential character of the locality”. *Otto v. Steinhilber*, 24 N.E.2d 851 (NY 1939). Note the similarities of the *Otto* test to the tests promulgated in the *Regulations, supra*, to see just how influential it has been.

The *Otto* test is the basis for the definition of hardship and the tests of proof thereof articulated in 101A *CJS Zoning and Land Planning* § 312 which states, that, in order to prove hardship that first “an applicant must prove that a variance is needed to enable the party’s reasonable use of the property or that absent a variance, the land cannot provide a reasonable return from any permitted use.” The distinction between the “denial of reasonable use” standard and “denial of reasonable return” standard is discussed more fully by the Supreme Court of Maryland in *Belvoir Farms v. North*, 734 A.2d 227, 238 (Md. 1999).

We do not urge the adoption of either particular standard upon this Court, noting that under whichever one this Court chooses to adopt that it is our position, as we intend to demonstrate, that the Appellants would fail to be able to prove either. Moreover, we note that such is a distinction without a difference; under either standard, what is at issue is the ability to use the property. Whether the property is intrinsically enjoyable in its present state, or under older concepts of enjoyment, is useful only for the investment and return to be garnered therein, both are measures of the utility of the tract to its holder. Indeed, one of the few cases clarifying

the application of the reasonable return requirement, *Goldstein v. City of South Portland*, 728 A.2d 164 (Me 1999), says that in order to satisfy the “reasonable return” requirement one must show that compliance with the regulation would result in loss of substantially beneficial use of the land, making the two standards virtually identical. See also *Baker v. Cornell* 488 A.2d 1303 Del. 1988).

In general, courts across the country have not undertaken to announce a uniform definition of hardship but have each articulated ones which vary, usually following the pattern of that in *Otto*. Virginia, which has a much more developed case law upon zoning issues than does West Virginia, adheres to the definition that “hardship occurs when ‘the strict application of the terms of the ordinance would effectively prohibit or unreasonable restrict the use of the property’ or create ‘a clearly demonstrable hardship approaching confiscation’ ”. *Packer v. Hornsby*, 267 S.E.2d 140 (Va 1980) citing *Va Code* § 15.1-495(b).

Those states which have recently found themselves compelled to announce a standard have invariably adopted ones similar to this. See, for example, the Nevada Supreme Court’s ruling in *Enterprise Citizens Action Committee v. Clark* 112 Nev. 649, 918 P.2d 305 (Nev. 1996) which cited approvingly and used for its examination of hardship, among other cases, *Wells & Highway 21 Corp. v. Yates*, 897 S.W.2d 56 (Mo. Ct. App. 1995) (hardship requires showing land cannot yield reasonable return if used only for the purpose allowed in that zone), *Miller v. Zoning Hearing Bd. Of Ross Tp.* 647 A.2d 966, 969 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1994) (hardship requires showing that land is virtually useless as it is presently zoned) and *State v. Winnebago County* 540 N.W.2d

6, 9 (Wis. Ct. App. 1995) (hardship is a situation where, absent a variance, no use could be made of the land).

Here, there has been no attempt by the Appellants to prove that the value or the use of their property is so impaired as to be effectively prohibited, approach confiscation, be incapable of yielding a reasonable return, or be virtually useless or of no use. Absent even an attempt to show that such standards had been met, the Planning Commission should have found no hardship applying to the Bennetts.

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